RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Oct 01, 2014, 3:44 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 90830-3-RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In the Matter of the Estate of

MARGARET L. PERTHOU-TAYLOR,

Deceased,

ALISON PERTHOU,

Petitioner/Appellant,

v.

CORNELIA PERTHOU MacConnel, individually and as Executor and Notice Agent for the Estate of Margaret L. Perthou-Taylor,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mark G. Olson, WSBA # 17846 Christopher M. Constantine, WSBA # 11650 Attorneys for Appellant Alison Perthou

P.O. Box 836 Everett, WA 98206 (425) 388-4516

P. O. Box 7125 Tacoma, WA 98417-0125 (253) 752-7850



I. II.

III. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Alison Perthou, Petitioner, seeks review of the unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I, in this case.

IV. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I, in Case No. 70953-4-I, entered on September 2, 2014. A copy of the decision is attached hereto as Appendix 1.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does this petition present an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court?

2. Does the public need for recognition in this case of a claim for tortious interference with a gift outweigh concerns over destabilizing the law of probate?

Does the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with Melville
 v. State, 115 Wn. 2d 34, 36, 793 P. 2d 952 (1990)?

4. Does the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with Dunlap
v. Wayne, 105 Wn. 2d 529, 535, 716 P. 2d 842 (1986)?

5. Does the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with Felsman v. Kessler, 2 Wn. App. 493, 469 P. 2d 691 (1970), or Riley v. Andres, 107 Wn. App. 391, 27 P. 3d 618 (2001)? 6. Does the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with Demelash v. Ross Stores, Inc., 105 Wn. App. 508, 20 P. 3d 447 (2001)?

7. Does the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with Marriage of Moody, 137 Wn. 2d 979, 992, 976 P. 2d 1240 (1999)?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Facts

Appellant Alison Perthou is the ex-wife of Alfred "Perth" Perthou, son of the decedent, Margaret L. Perthou-Taylor (Margaret), and brother to the respondent. CP 59. In August, 1982, Alfred Perthou was engaged in a protracted legal action against Alison over the custody of their twin children, Peter and Stewart, at which time Alfred made numerous slanderous accusations and engaged in a lengthy adversarial battle in an attempt to drain appellant of her money. CP 59. Alison was set to file a lawsuit against Alfred Perthou, seeking substantial sums for the damages he had caused. CP59.

Prior to filing suit against Alfred Perthou, Alison contacted the decedent, her former mother-in-law, for assistance in resolving this dispute. CP 59. Margaret had a close and loving relationship with Alison, and Margaret wrote that she was appalled and angry with her son Alfred over this situation. CP 59.

On December 14, 1982, Margaret prepared and executed a letter

giving Alison funds to be set aside each year for her retirement. CP 59, 66-

67. In her letter, Margaret wrote the terms of her gift:

As I told you, I will more than adequately fund your retirement. This will require diverting my annual gifting to you, which has always been at the highest allowable by the IRS, and will continue to be, plus additional funds I and my advisors select, as well as the reinvestment of all income generated by these funds. By the time you retire at sixty five, presumably, you should have a very nice nest egg indeed.

CP 66.

Margaret emphasized in her letter that steps would be taken to

ensure that the investment account she was setting up for Alison's

retirement would be protected to so that there would be no "possibility of

outside interference" from Alfred Perthou or anyone else. CP 66.

In this letter, Decedent also advised Alison that she had instructed

Alfred Perthou to drop his legal actions against her. Margaret closed her

letter with the following words:

Even though you are no longer my legal daughterin-law, you have always been a loyal and wonderful friend. You and I have often said that we never got a divorce, and I do hope that we will continue to be great friends. Under the circumstances, you have been very gracious, and remarkably patient. I appreciate it enormously. With my deepest and most sincere apologies, and with the greatest love and respect...CP 67. In conveying this gift of retirement fund promised in her December 14, 1982 letter, Margaret asked Alison to refrain from pursuing any legal actions against her son Alfred and remain living in the Madison Park area in Seattle so that her twin grandsons would be close by. CP 66. As Margaret explained: "*The higher living costs in Madison Park [Seattle], and perhaps lower income will be handsomely compensated for with a fully funded, safe, and very comfortable retirement for you*." (Emphasis added). CP 66.

Though she had reasonable basis for legal actions against Alfred Perthou and though she had a job offer in southern California, Alison complied with Margaret's requests and remained in the Madison Park neighborhood. CP 60.

Upon information and belief, Margaret fulfilled her promise and immediately began funding an investment account for Alison's retirement, and continued to make annual contributions to the maximum extent allowed under IRS gifting rules from 1982 until her death in 2005. At no time did Margaret ever revoke the gift to Alison. CP 60-61.

Alison turned 65 years of age in July 2010, and is now in retirement. CP 61. The following year, Alison contacted defendant Cornelia Perthou MacConnel, Executor of the Estate, to claim her retirement account. CP 61. Ms. MacConnel denied knowledge of

Decedent's gift or the presence of any retirement account for the benefit of Alison. CP 61. Furthermore, Ms. MacConnel has refused to cooperate or investigate further as to where such funds may have been located, making this legal action necessary. CP 61.

Upon information and belief, the account established by Margaret for Alison's benefit was dissolved by Ms. MacConnel and/or her legal counsel and representatives and the fund was commingled with other assets. CP 61.

The actions by Ms. MacConnel wrongfully interfered with Alison's expectancy of Margaret's gift of the retirement account. CP 61. Alison has been harmed by Ms. MacConnel's wrongful interference and is entitled to possession of the retirement account. CP 61.

B. Procedural History

In February, 2005, probate of Margaret's estate was filed in King County Superior Court No. 05-4-01094-8. CP 336-42. In May, 2012, Alison filed a petition for judicial review. CP 3-13. In June, 2012, Alison filed an amended TEDRA petition in which she asserted claims against Ms. MacConnel for breach of fiduciary duty, conversion, tortious interference with a gift, constructive trust, and accounting. CP 57-67.

In August, 2012, Ms. MacConnel moved to dismiss Alison's TEDRA petition. CP 91-102. In October, Ms. MacConnel's counsel requested that Alison's attorney agree to an order for trial assignment. CP

183-184, 186. Alison's attorney replied, giving his agreement, and

requested that Ms. MacConnel's attorney send a proposed stipulation.

CP 184, 187.

Ms. MacConnel's attorney, Ms. Phillips, replied in an email dated October 4, 2012, advising that the court had a form for that purpose, and that she would simply present the order in the ex parte department then next day:

> The court has a form order that is used to assign a matter from ex parte and get a trial date, I have another hearing set in ex parte that morning so will be there. My position is the matter should be set for a hearing on our 12 (b) (6) motion, and that the hearing should be set as soon as the assigned judge has time on his or her calendar. If we prevail, the case will be dismissed with dismissed with prejudice.

CP 184, 188.

In her email, Ms. Phillips gave no indication that Ms. MacConnel's motion to dismiss would be heard before a commissioner on October 10, 2012. Instead, Ms. Philips stated her position that the hearing on the motion to dismiss should be held before the assigned trial judge. *Id.*

Based upon that exchange, Alison's attorney understood that Ms.

MacConnel's motion to dismiss would not go forward on October 10,

2012, and that instead, Ms. MacConnel's counsel would obtain a trial assignment. CP 184, 189

At the hearing before the commissioner, Ms. MacConnel's counsel failed to mention to the court that the parties' counsel had achieved an agreement the previous day, and instead she informed that the parties' counsel disagreed whether the claim should progress beyond the day of the hearing. RP I at 3. Alison's counsel did not appear at the hearing, due to the representations by Ms. MacConnel's counsel. CP 184, 189. On October 10, 2012, an order of dismissal was signed, not by the assigned trial judge, but by a commission pro tempore. CP 125-127; App. 1; RP I at 1-6. Alison's attorney learned later that Ms. MacConnel's attorney had the order of dismissal entered instead of the order for trial assignment. CP 184.

Alison sought revision of the commissioner's order of dismissal. CP 178-182. The trial court denied revision. CP 280-83; App. 2; RP II. In its Order Denying Motion for Revision, the trial court declined to recognize the tort of tortious interference with a gift on the grounds that recognition of a new tort was more properly the role for this Court. CP 281. The trial court also concluded that there was no basis to apply California law on punitive damages. CP 281. Alison sought reconsideration of the trial court's order denying revision. CP 292-297.

The trial court denied reconsideration. CP 323. Alison thereafter timely filed a notice of appeal from that order. CP 324-218.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court. App. 1.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Whether to recognize tortious interference with a testamentary expectancy or gift presents an issue of substantial public importance.

The Court of Appeals declined to recognize tortious interference with a testamentary expectancy, citing vague concerns for the effect of the tort on the probate system.¹ The Court of Appeals made no attempt to articulate those concerns, let alone address how such concerns relate to the inter vivos gift at issue in this case.

The Court of Appeal found support in *Beckwith v. Dahl*, 205 Cal. App. 4th 1039, 141 Cal. Rptr. 3d 142 (2012) for its concerns for the probate system.² The Court of Appeals failed to recognize that *Beckwith* held that despite concern for the probate system, a court should not take the drastic consequence of an absolute rule which bars recovery in all cases when a new tort cause of action can be defined in such a way so as to minimize the costs and burdens associated with it. 205 Cal. App. 4th 1056. *Beckwith* thus supports recognition of the tort here.

¹ Unpublished Decision, COA No. 70953-4-I; App. 1 at 7. ² *Ihid*

The Court of Appeals also chose to ignore a wealth of cases from numerous other jurisdictions that recognize tortious interference with a testamentary expectancy or gift. See Marshall v. Marshall, 547 U.S. 293, 312, 126 S. Ct. 1735, 164 L. Ed. 2d 480 (2006); Peffer v. Bennett, 523 F. 2d 1323, 1325 (10th Cir. 1975); *DeWitt v. Duce*, 408 So. 2d 216 (1981); Morrison v. Morrison, 663 S.E.2d 714 (Ga. 2008); Bjork v. O'Meara, 968 N.E.2d 626 (Ill. 2013); In re: Estate of Ellis, 923 N.E.2d 237, 240-44 (Ill. 2010); Minton v. Sackett, 671 N.E. 2d 160, 162 (Ind. 1996); Huffey v. Lea, 491 N.W.2d 518, 520 (Iowa 1992); Frohwein v. Haesemeyer, 264 N.W.2d 792, 794-95 (Iowa 1978); Cyr v. Cote, 396 A. 2d 1013, 1018-19 (Me. 1979); Harmon v. Harmon, 404 A.2d 1020 (Me. 1979); Plimpton v. Gerrard, 668 A.2d 882, 884-85 (Me. 1995); Estate of Doyle, 442 N.W.2d 642, 643 (Mich. App. 1989); Hammons v. Eisert, 745 S.W.2d 253, 256-58 (Mo. App. 1988); Doughty v. Morris, 871 P.2d 380, 383-84 (N.M. 1994); Peralta v. Peralta, 131 P. 3d 81, 82-83 (N.M. App. 2005); Bohannon v. Wachovia Bank & Trust Co., 188 S.E. 390, 393-94 (N.C. 1936); Firestone v. Galbreath, 616 N.E.2d 202 (Ohio 1993); Allen v. Hall, 974 P.2d 199 (Or. 1999); Cardenas v. Schober, 783 A.2d 317, 325-26 (Pa. Super 2001); King. v. Aker, 725 S.W. 2d 750, 754 (Tex. App. 1987); Barone v. Barone, 294 S.E.2d 260, 264 (W. Va. 1982); Harris v. Kritzik, 480 N.W. 2d514, 517 (Wis. App. 1992). See also, Diane J. Klein, "Go West, Disappointed

Heir": Tortious Interference with Expectation of Inheritance-A Survey with Analysis of State Approaches in the Pacific States, 13 Lewis & Clark L. Rev. 209, 210 (2009).

The Court of Appeals also misplaced reliance upon *Hadley v. Cowan*, 60 Wn. App. 433, 807 P. 2d 1271 (2010).³ In *Hadley*, the Court of Appeals held that the plaintiff's claim for tortious interference with the parent/child relationship was barred by the language of a settlement agreement executed by the plaintiff in a related probate action involving the estate of the plaintiff's mother. No similar facts are present here. The court in *Hadley* also did not directly address whether the tort was recognized in Washington. Nor was the court in *Hadley* asked to recognize tortious interference with a testamentary expectancy or gift.

B. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Melville v. State*, 115 Wn. 2d 34, 36, 793 P. 2d 952 (1990).

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's grant of respondents' motion for summary judgment. In so doing, the Court of Appeals relied heavily upon the Declaration of Cornelia P. MacConnel.⁴ In paragraphs 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9 of her declaration, Ms. MacConnel made repeated references to documents not attached to her declaration. Petitioner had moved to strike those paragraphs as being in violation of

³ Id., at 8.

⁴ Id., at 10-11.

CR 56 (e) and *Melville v. State*, 115 Wn. 2d 34, 36, 793 P. 2d 952 (1990). The Court of Appeals concluded, without citation to any authority, that the failure to attach the documents referred by Ms. MacConnel in her declaration had little or no impact on the evidence in the declaration itself.⁵ The Court of Appeals ruling on this issue cannot be reconciled with either CR 56 (e) or *Melville*. In *Melville*, the court clearly stated that the requirements of CR 56 (e) must be followed. "*The explicit, but plain standards of CR 56 (e) must be complied with in summary judgment proceedings*." 115 Wn. 2d 36. The decision of the Court of Appeals therefore merits review under RAP 13.4 (b) (1).

C. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Dunlap v. Wayne*, 105 Wn. 2d 529, 535, 716 P. 2d 842 (1986).

The Court of Appeals refused to find error in the trial court's consideration of hearsay evidence in Ms. MacConnel's declaration.⁶ Petitioner had moved to strike paragraphs 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9 as incorporating hearsay. The Court of Appeals concluded that the hearsay had little or nothing to do with the substance of Ms. MacConnel's testimony.⁷ The Court of Appeals refusal to strike hearsay portions of Ms. MacConnel's declaration cannot be reconciled with CR 56 (e), ER 801 (c), ER 802 or *Dunlap v. Wayne*, 105 Wn. 2d 529, 535, 716 P. 2d 842 (1986).

⁵ App. 1 at 14.

⁶ Ibid., at 15.

⁷ App. 1 at 15.

The decision of the Court of Appeals therefore merits review under RAP 13.4 (b) (1).

The Court of Appeals concluded that even if the failure to strike Ms. MacConnel's declaration was erroneous, other declarations established that the alleged fund never existed.⁸ The Court of Appeals considered those other declarations as disposing of all questions regarding the existence of the account established by Ms. Perthou for petitioner.⁹ Those declarations, however do not resolve all issues of material fact as to the existence of the account. Leslie Monteath, an investment adviser, met Margaret Perthou Taylor in 2001. Monteath testified only that Ms. Perthou never made any mention of Alison Perthou to him. Monteath therefore had no personal knowledge of Ms. Perthou's actions prior to 2001. Monteath's knowledge of Ms. Perthou's finances was also limited to assets transferred to Morgan Stanley. Monteath did not testify that he had a comprehensive knowledge of Ms. Perthou's financial dealings from 1982 until her death. CP 362-69.

Norma Oliason also testified in her declaration that she did work as a CPA for Ms. Perthou between 2002 and 2005. Ms. Oliason testified that she reviewed her firm's files going back to 2003, and found no mention of Petitioner. Ms. Oliason did not testify whether any financial transaction

⁸ App. 1, at 15. ⁹ App. 1, at 11.

by Ms. Perthou involving petitioner between 1982 and 2003 did or did not exist. CP 391-97

Shawn McChord also testified as to work he did as a CPA for Ms. Perthou between 1986 and 2002. CP 382-85. Mr. McChord offered no testimony regarding the time period from 1982 to 1986. CP 282-85.

D. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Felsman v. Kessler*, 2 Wn. App. 493, 496-97, 469 P. 2d 691 (1970) and *Riley v. Andres*, 107 Wn. App. 391, 398, 27 P. 3d 618 (2001).

The Court of Appeals concluded that the cases relied upon by petitioner do not establish a uniform rule for further discovery.¹⁰ The Court of Appeals cited no authority for its conclusion. The court may therefore assume that there is no authority to support the Court of Appeals' conclusion. *DeHeer v. Seattle Post Intelligencer*, 60 Wn. 2d 122, 126, 372 P. 2d 193 (1962) ("Where no authorities are cited in support of a proposition, the court is not required to search out authorities, but may assume that counsel, after diligent search, has found none....").

The Court of Appeals' conclusion cannot be reconciled with either *Felsman v. Kessler*, 2 Wn. App. 493, 469 P. 2d 691 (1970) or *Riley v. Andres*, 107 Wn. App. 391, 27 P. 3d 618 (2001). *Felsman* and *Riley* each recognize that where material facts averred in an affidavit are particularly

¹⁰ App. 1 at 14.

within the knowledge of the moving party, it is advisable that the cause proceed to trial in order that the opponent may be allowed to disprove such facts by cross-examination and by the demeanor of the moving party while testifying. *Felsman*, 2 Wn. App. 496-97; *Riley v. Andres*, 107 Wn. App. 398. The testimony of Cornelia MacConnel, Leslie Monteath, Norma Oliason and Shawn McCord is based upon facts peculiarly within their knowledge, and under *Felsman* and *Riley*, should therefore be subjected to cross-examination. The decision of the Court of Appeals therefore merits review under RAP 13.4 (b) (2).

E. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Demelash v. Ross* Stores, Inc., 105 Wn. App. 508, 20 P. 3d 447 (2001).

The trial court may commit reversible error if it grants summary judgment without allowing reasonable discovery. *Demelash v. Ross Stores, Inc.*, 105 Wn. App. 508, 20 P. 3d 447 (2001). Respondent's untimely scheduling of the hearing on the motion to dismiss deprived Alison of any opportunity to conduct discovery. The Court of Appeals faulted petitioner for failing to introduce evidence on the elements of a prima facie case of tortious interference with a testamentary expectancy or gift.¹¹ Yet the Court of Appeals refused to allow petitioner an opportunity to conduct discovery.¹² The Court of Appeals' refusal to allow petitioner

¹¹ App. 1 at 12.

¹² App. 1 at 14.

discovery cannot be reconciled with Demelash. The decision of the Court of Appeals therefore merits review under RAP 13.4 (b) (2).

F. Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with Marriage of Moody, 137 Wn. 2d 979, 992, 976 P. 2d 1240 (1999).

The Court of Appeals concluded that petitioner provided no relevant authority to support her position that the appropriate course of action was to remand the case to the commissioner.¹³ Petitioner cited Marriage of Moody, 137 Wn. 2d 979, 992, 976 P. 2d 1240 (1999) for the proposition that "[i]n an appropriate case, the superior court judge may determine that remand to the commissioner for further proceedings is necessary." Under Moody, remand was clearly warranted in this case, given the evidence in petitioner's supplemental declaration regarding the statement of Mr. Fernald and the likelihood that the retirement account established by Ms. Perthou for petitioner was maintained at a Seattle investment firm, Martin Nelson.¹⁴ The Court of Appeals' decision is therefore in conflict with Marriage of Moody, and review is appropriate under RAP 13.4 (b) (1).

IV. CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing, the Court should grant review, recognize the tort of tortious interference with a testamentary expectancy or gift,

¹³ App. 1 at 16. ¹⁴ CP 260-66.

reverse the trial court's orders denying revision and reconsideration and the order of dismissal, and remand the case to the trial court for further proceedings.