RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Oct 31, 2014, 11:59 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 90830-3

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

In the Matter of the Estate of

MARGARET L. PERTHOU-TAYLOR,

Deceased,

## ALISON PERTHOU,

Petitioner/Appellant,

v.

CORNELIA PERTHOU MacCONNEL, Individually and as Executrix and Notice Agent for the Estate of Margaret L. Perthou-Taylor,

Respondent.

### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

### KUTSCHER HEREFORD BERTRAM BURKART PLLC

Karen R. Bertram, WSBA #22051

705 Second Avenue Hoge Building, Suite 800 Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 382-4414

`

#### I. INTRODUCTION

There is no basis for the Supreme Court to accept review of the Court of Appeal's decision affirming the trial court's dismissal of Alison Perthou's claim against Cornelia MacConnel alleging that she wrongfully interfered with her expectancy of a gift. Ms. Perthou's claim, brought thirty years after her former mother-in-law allegedly promised to fund a retirement fund for her benefit, and seven years after her former motherin-law died, is based solely on a 1982 letter allegedly written by her former mother-in-law, in which she purported to agree to fund a retirement account for Ms. Perthou. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that even if they recognized the tort of intentional interference with inheritance or gift, "Perthou's evidence does not create any genuine issue of material fact for trial." Opinion, p. 13.

Contrary to Ms. Perthou's assertions, the Court of Appeals did not decline to recognize tortious interference with a testamentary expectancy. Rather, the Court of Appeals found that Ms. "Perthou fail[ed] to sustain her burden to withstand dismissal" because she failed to satisfy the requisite elements of a claim for tortious interference with inheritance or gift. Opinion, p. 10. Because Ms. Perthou had no evidence to support her claim, the Court of Appeals explicitly declined to express an "opinion on whether the tort should be recognized based on other facts." *Id.* 

Review by the Supreme Court under RAP 13.4(b) is not warranted. None of the cases Ms. Perthou cites as a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) are in conflict with the Court of Appeals' decision.

- 1 -

Moreover, recognition of tortious interference with an expectancy of inheritance is not a fundamental or urgent issue of broad public import. Even if recognizing the tort was an important public issue, this is not the proper case to recognize the tort because, as the Court of Appeals found, Ms. Perthou's unsubstantiated allegations, based on nothing more than her "information and belief...failed to meet her burden to withstand dismissal under the elements she articulated." Opinion, p. 16.

#### **II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Ms. Perthou's entire case is based on her purported "information and belief" that Ms. MacConnel dissolved an alleged retirement account, of which Ms. MacConnel had no knowledge. The only evidence Ms. Perthou offered is a letter allegedly written in 1982 in which Ms. Perthou "infers" that her former mother-in-law ("Margaret") intended to give her money. Based on several declarations in support of Ms. MacConnel's motion to dismiss, the Court of Appeals concluded that there was no evidence that Margaret ever created or funded an account of any kind for Ms. Perthou. Opinion, p. 12.

Margaret's meticulous check registers, dating back to 1980, demonstrate that she wrote checks to pay for club dues for Ms. Perthou and gave her and Ms. Perthou's children Christmas and birthday gifts. CP 260, 366. But there are no checks to an account for her benefit. CP 260, 366-67. Margaret created a Trust in 1996 and the records documenting the transfer of her assets into the Trust demonstrate there is no record of any account for Ms. Perthou. CP 366-67, CP 408-33. Margaret's tax returns

- 2 -

are likewise silent as to any gifts to Ms. Perthou or an account for her benefit. CP 366. Two accountants worked with Margaret from 1986 until her death in 2005 and neither have any knowledge about an account for Ms. Perthou's benefit. CP 380-84. From 1986-2002, one accountant prepared Margaret's income tax returns, gift tax returns, and handled numerous financial matters for Margaret and has no knowledge about any account for Ms. Perthou. CP 382-84. The accountant who worked with Margaret from 2002 until her death similarly never received any information about an account for the benefit of Ms. Perthou. CP 380-81. Likewise, Margaret's financial advisor has no knowledge about an account for Ms. Perthou's benefit. CP 373-74.

During the 20-year period between 1982 and 2002, Margaret handled her own financial affairs without assistance from her daughter, Ms. MacConnel. CP 374, 383. Beginning in 2002, Ms. MacConnel was co-trustee of her mother's Trust and served as trustee of the Trust after her death in 2005. CP 367. Ms. MacConnel never saw any documentation regarding an account for Ms. Perthou's benefit. CP 367. Margaret's Will and Trust, which were executed in 2002, demonstrate that Margaret did not make any bequest to Ms. Perthou. CP 336-42, 408-33. Margaret's accountant assisted with post-death tax matters for Margaret and found no account in Ms. Perthou's name, payable at death to Ms. Perthou, or held in joint tenancy with Ms. Perthou. CP 380.

Because Ms. Perthou failed to present any cvidence in support of her claim of a gift under any legal or equitable theory, even a claim of

- 3 -

tortious interference with a testamentary expectancy or gift, the probate court properly dismissed the claims on a CR 12(b)(6) motion. Discontent with the probate court's decision, Ms. Perthou sought revision in the trial court. The trial court reviewed extensive briefing by Ms. Perthou and denied her motion for revision and affirmed the commissioner's order. Ms. Perthou then moved for reconsideration of the trial court's decision, which was again denied. Ms. Perthou then sought direct review by the Supreme Court pursuant to RAP 4.2(a), which this Court denied. By the time the Court of Appeals rendered its decision, Ms. Perthou's claim had been reviewed by a court four different occasions, all of which reached the same conclusion.

#### **III. ARGUMENT**

# A. Recognition of Tortious Interference with a Gift Is Not an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

The Court of Appeals specifically addressed Ms. Perthou's argument that "the need to recognize this tort is 'obvious and acute' and that recognition 'will foster important public policy'" and concluded that "neither assertion is persuasive in this case." Opinion, p. 15. Citing *Beckwith v. Dahl*, 205 Cal. App.4th 1039, 141 Cal.Rptr.3d 142 (2012), the Court of Appeals discussed "several policy considerations that recognition of the tort would bring." Opinion, p. 7. The Court of Appeals also cited *Hadley v. Cowan*, 60 Wn. App. 433, 804 P.2d 1271 (1991), which "expressed concerns similar to those stated in *Beckwith*—the effect

on the probate statutes if a tort is recognized outside the statutory framework." Opinion, p. 8.<sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals found that "even if [it] were to ignore the serious policy considerations that both *Beckwith* and *Hadley* identify and recognize the tort,...Perthou does not show that recognition of the tort is necessary to afford her a remedy." Opinion p. 10 and 16.

#### B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded that Ms. Perthou Failed to Meet Her Burden to Withstand Dismissal Under the Elements She Articulated.

The Court of Appeals did not ignore the cases from other jurisdictions that recognize tortious interference with a testamentary expectancy or gift, as Ms. Perthou contends. In fact, the Court of Appeals carefully applied the facts presented by Ms. Perthou to the five elements followed by "most states recognizing the tort" and articulated by Ms. Perthou. Opinion, p. 9. Based on this analysis, the Court of Appeals determined that Ms. Perthou failed to satisfy the requisite elements of a claim for tortious interference with a gift.

Specifically, the Court of Appeals found that Ms. Perthou failed to show: (1) "that Ms. MacConnel had the requisite knowledge of the alleged gift or that she intentionally interfered with it;" (2) "that proof amounting to a reasonable degree that the bequest or devise would have been in effect

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In *Hadley*, the court indicated that even if the tort were recognized, the probate court would have jurisdiction to hear it and ruled that res judicata precludes such an action when issues involving the same nucleus of operative facts can and should be settled in the probate court. *Id.* at 439.

at the time of the death of the testator if there had been no such interference;" and that "MacConnel directed any tortious conduct at someone other than Perthou, which the tort requires." Opinion, p. 12. The Court of Appeals observed that "allegations alone are insufficient in the context of this motion. Evidence is required," and concluded that "Perthou's evidence does not create any genuine issue of material fact for trial." Opinion, p. 12-13.

# C. The Court of Appeals' Decision Is Not in Conflict with Any Supreme Court or Court of Appeals Decisions.

Contrary to Ms. Perthou's contention, the Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with this Court's decision in *Melville v. State*, 115 Wn.2d 34, 793 P.2d 952 (1990) because *Melville* is easily distinguished from the present case. In *Melville*, plaintiff alleged extensive facts based upon an affidavit by his lawyer, who stated that he read various records, files, reports and depositions, which he asserted were accurate. *Id.* at 36. Because the source documents from which the lawyer drew his facts were not in the record, the Court concluded that the affidavit did not meet the requirement of CR 56(c). *Id.* 

As the Court of Appeals observed in this case, unlike *Melville*, the failure to attach documents to Ms. MacConnel's declaration had "little or no impact on the evidence in the declaration," which "essentially denied any knowledge of the claimed fund and further detailed what steps Ms. MacConnel took to investigate Margaret's records to determine whether there was any evidence of such a fund." Opinion, p. 14-15.

Likewise, the Court of Appeals rejected Ms. Perthou's hearsay objection. Opinion, p. 15. Ms. Perthou cites *Dunlap v. Wayne*, 105 Wn.2d 529, 716 P.2d 842 (1986) for the proposition that a court cannot consider inadmissible evidence when ruling on a motion for summary judgment. Again, this case is distinguishable from and not inconsistent with *Dunlap*. In *Dunlap*, plaintiff's only evidence to support his claim for defamation was his and his wife's description of their conversation with the plaintiff's employer. This Court concluded that plaintiff could not use his employer's out-of-court statements to prove that the defendant made a defamatory statement.

Here, Ms. MacConnel's declaration was not the only evidence the court considered. As the Court of Appeals noted, even if it was erroneous not to strike Ms. MacConnel's declaration, "the other unchallenged declarations provide evidence that the alleged fund never existed." Opinion, p. 15.

Ms. Perthou complains that "those declarations do not resolve all the issues of material fact as to the existence of the account." Petition for Review, p. 12. However, the Court of Appeals determined that the "declarations from accountants and a financial advisor that handled Margaret's accounting, personal tax, and trust account matters show that none of these individuals recall Margaret mentioning Perthou or setting up an account for Perthou's benefit." Opinion, p. 11

Ms. Perthou also cites to Felsman v. Kessler, 2 Wn. App. 493, 469 P.2d 691 (1970) and Riley v. Andres, 107 Wn. App. 391, 27 P.3d 618

- 7 -

(2001) for the proposition that when material facts in an affidavit are particularly within the knowledge of the moving party, the case should proceed to trial so that the opponent can disprove such facts by crossexamination. Again, the facts in those cases are easily distinguishable from the present case. In both Felsman and Riley, there was evidence that contradicted the moving party's affidavits, which precluded summary judgment. Here, Ms. Perthou presented no contradictory evidence. As the Court of Appeals recognized, "allegations alone are insufficient in the context of this motion. Evidence is required. And Perthou's evidence does not create any genuine issue of material fact for trial." Opinion, p. 12-13. In fact, the Court of Appeals reasoned that "the cases on which Perthou relies to assert that cross-examination should have been allowed here do not establish a uniform rule for further discovery. If that were the case, the court could never grant summary judgment on the basis of declarations." Opinion, p. 14. The Court of Appeals emphasized that is not the law. Id.

Ms. Perthou cites to *Demelash v. Ross Stores, Inc.*, 105 Wn. App. 508, 20 P.3d 447 (2001), for her assertion that it was error not to allow her to conduct discovery. Petition for Review, p. 14. But *Demelash* has no relevance to this case. The plaintiff in *Demelash* brought an action against a store for false arrest, conversion, and assault and battery after being detained by the store on suspicion of shoplifting, which was dismissed on summary judgment. On appeal, plaintiff contended that the trial court erred in failing to compel the store to produce discovery

- 8 -

regarding its security activities, which the defendant store claimed was protected under the attorney work product doctrine. *Id.* at 509. The Court of Appeals agreed that the plaintiff was entitled to information regarding the store's conduct in other shoplifting incidents to establish his CPA claim. Here, Ms. Perthou never even identified what discovery she should have been allowed to conduct or how that discovery would support her claim.

The Court of Appeal's decision is also consistent with *Marriage of Moody*, 137 Wn.2d 979, 992 P.2d 1240 (1999). In *Moody*, this Court recognized that "[i]n an appropriate case the superior court may determine that a remand to the commissioner for further proceedings is necessary." *Id.* The *Moody* Court, however, did not remand the case to the commissioner, but held that the superior court judge correctly refused to consider new evidence offered on the motion for revision. *Id.* at 993.

Likewise, the Court of Appeals held that Ms. Perthou "failed to meet her burden to withstand dismissal under the elements she articulated" and "provided no relevant authority on appeal to support her assertion that the appropriate course of action was to remand the case to the commissioner." Opinion, p. 16.

#### **IV. CONCLUSION**

Ms. Perthou failed to plead or cite a single act by Ms. MacConnel that would support a claim against her. Just as this Court denied Ms. Perthou's request for direct review of her appeal, the Supreme Court should not accept review of the Court of Appeals' well-reasoned opinion. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2) because the Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with any decision by the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals. Nor is there an issue of substantial public interest that merits further review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).